# BYLAWS OF THE CODE GREEN CAMPAIGN

(A Washington State Nonprofit Corporation)

### 1. Offices

- 1.1. **Principal Office.** The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in the State of Washington. The Board of Directors is granted full power and authority to change the principal office from one location to another, upon filing of such notices as may be required by law.
- 1.2. **Other Offices.** The Board of Directors may establish other offices, either within or outside the State of Washington, as the business of the Corporation may require.

# 2. Purposes

- 2.1. **Purposes.** This Corporation is a nonprofit membership corporation, organized and operated exclusively for educational, and charitable purposes as defined by Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including, but not limited to:
  - 2.1.1. Raising awareness of depression, PTSD and other mental health disorders that affect the public safety community
  - 2.1.2. Educating members of the public safety community about mental health
  - 2.1.3. Aiding, supporting, and assisting by gifts, grants, contributions, or otherwise, other persons or organizations of any kind, that are engaged in assisting with the above goals
- 2.2. The Corporation shall have all powers now or hereafter granted by law, and all powers lawfully necessary or required to carry out its purposes, either alone or in cooperation with others, subject to such limitations and conditions as are or may be prescribed by law, or in the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws.

# 3. Members

- 3.1. Membership shall consist of the Board of Directors.
- 3.2. The Board of Directors may also appoint associate members to serve on committees on an as needed basis however these members will not have voting rights.

# 4. Meetings

- 4.1. **Place of Meetings.** The Board of Directors shall determine all meetings of members of the Corporation, and the place of the meeting shall be stated in the notice of the meeting.
- 4.2. **Special Meetings.** The President may call special meetings of the members for any purpose.

- 4.3. **Notice of Meeting.** Each member shall be notified by email of any monthly or special member meeting, of the time, place, and purpose of such meeting, unless all are present in person or by proxy and consent to the meeting without notice. When the vote may be taken by mail or electronic transmission, a description of each matter submitted to a vote shall be set forth in a record accompanying or contained in the notice of meeting.
- 4.4. **Voting.** Each member shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of the members. A member may vote in person, by mail, by electronic transmission, or by proxy executed in writing by the member or their duly authorized agent. A vote submitted by mail, electronic transmission, or proxy is effective when received by the Secretary. The Board of Directors shall designate the address, location, or system to which votes may be electronically transmitted, in an executed electronically transmitted record.

#### 5. Directors

- 5.1. **Powers.** Subject to the limitations of the Articles and Bylaws, and subject to the duties of directors as prescribed by the Bylaws, the business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by and under the direction of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may exercise all powers of the Corporation which are not specifically reserved to the members by these Bylaws, including but not limited to the power to select and remove all officers, agents, employees and contractors, and to fix reasonable compensation therefore, to authorize and empower officers or agents to enter into contracts and other commitments on behalf of the Corporation, and to appoint and delegate responsibilities and authority to committees, officers, and agents.
- 5.2. **Duties.** Each director of the Corporation, subject to the Board's control, shall supervise and control the business and affairs of the Corporation. He or she may preside over Board meetings, take and maintain the minutes of Board meetings, issue notices of Corporation business in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law, and act as custodian of the Corporation records. He or she shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for the funds and securities of the Corporation, may disburse funds when proper to do so, may receive and give receipts for monies due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors
- 5.3. **Number of Directors.** The minimum authorized number of directors is five (5). The number of directors will be revisited on an as-needed basis by the board of directors and may be increased or decreased by a vote.
- 5.4. **Election and Term.** Each person named in the Articles of Incorporation as a member of the initial Board of Directors shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation, removal or death.
- 5.5. **Resignation and Removal of Directors.** A director may resign at any time upon written request to the Corporation. Furthermore, any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed, with or without cause, by a vote of the majority of the members entitled to vote for the election of directors.
- 5.6. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors may be filled by the affirmative vote of a

majority of the remaining directors though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors or by a sole remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office only until the next election of directors.

- 5.7. **Time and Place of Meetings.** Annual meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual meeting of members each year. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such time and place as may from time to time be approved by the Board of Directors. Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time or place by the President or by two (2) or more of the directors then in office. Notice of the time and place of each meeting of the Board of Directors not fixed by an express provision of the Bylaws or by a standing resolution of the Board of Directors shall be given to each director not less than two (2) days before the date of the meeting. Such notice may be given personally or by telephone, telegraph, facsimile, electronic mail, or firstclass mail.
- 5.8. **Participation by Telephone or Video Chat.** The Board of Directors may permit any or all directors to participate in a regular or special meeting by, or conduct the meeting through, use of any means of communication by which all directors participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. A director participating in a meeting by this means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting.
- 5.9. **Quorum.** A majority of the full number of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act, decision, or vote of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors.
- 5.10. **Action Without a Meeting.** Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if all the members of the board consent in writing to such action. The action shall be signed by each director and filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board. Action taken hereunder is effective when the last director signs the consent, unless the consent specifies an earlier or later effective date. Such consent shall have the same effect as a unanimous vote.
- 5.11. **Advisory Board.** The Board of Directors may establish an Advisory Board to be comprised of one or more individuals chosen by the Board of Directors at its sole discretion. The Board of Directors shall not be bound by any advice or decision of the Advisory Board. The members of the Advisory Board shall not have the rights or privileges of directors or members as set forth in the Bylaws and shall have no power or authority over the operation of the Corporation. A member of the Advisory Board may be removed at any time by the Board of Directors, with or without cause.

## 6. Officers

- 6.1. **Officers.** The initial officers of the Corporation shall be Chairman, President, Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer. The Board of Directors shall have the power to create such other offices as it deems necessary in the best interest of the Corporation. One person may hold two or more offices in the Corporation.
- 6.2. **Nomination and Election.** The officers of the Corporation shall be nominated and elected annually by the Board of Directors. All directors then in office may vote on candidates for such offices. Such offices shall be filled in an election upon the vote of a majority of directors then in office. Each officer shall hold his or her office until he or she shall resign or shall be removed or his or her successor shall be elected and qualified. There shall be no prohibition on re-election of an officer. All officers must be directors of the

Corporation. The Board of Directors may, by resolution, establish procedures governing nomination and election of officers that are consistent with these Bylaws.

#### 6.3. **Duties.**

- 6.3.1. **President.** The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall have general supervision and direction of the business and affairs of the Corporation, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors., The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The President shall have such other powers and duties as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- 6.3.2. **Vice President.** The Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President. The Vice President shall have such other powers and duties as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- 6.3.3. **Secretary.** The Secretary shall keep accurate records of the proceedings of all meetings of the Board and members. In the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint another director, officer, or member as acting secretary of the meeting. The Secretary shall have such other powers and duties as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- 6.3.4. **Treasurer.** The Treasurer shall have overall responsibility for all corporate funds, and shall perform, or cause to be performed, the following: keeping of full and accurate accounts of all financial records of the Corporation; deposit of monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors; disbursement of funds when proper to do so; and making financial reports as to the financial condition of the Corporation to the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall have such other powers and duties as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- 6.4. **Resignation and Removal.** An officer may resign at any time upon written request to the Corporation. An officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting.
- 6.5. **Vacancies.** A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or any other cause may be filled by the Board of Directors, in the manner prescribed in the Bylaws for regular appointments to such office.

### 7 Committees

7.1. **Appointment of Committees.** The Board of Directors may appoint such committees as they deem necessary or appropriate to conduct the business and further the objectives of the Corporation. The appointment by the Board of any committee shall be by resolution adopted by a majority of directors then in office. The Board of Directors shall retain the right to limit the powers and duties of any committee that it has created and to disband any such committees in its sole discretion. The Board of Directors may, from timetotime, appoint additional members to the committees as they deem necessary or appropriate. A committee member may resign at any time upon written request to the Corporation. A committee member may be removed, either with or without cause, by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting.

7.2. **Powers and Authority of Committees.** The Board of Directors may delegate to any committee any of the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation; provided, however, that no committee may: (a) approve or recommend to members dissolution, merger or the sale, pledge or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets; (b) elect, appoint, or remove directors or fill vacancies on the Board; or (c) adopt, amend or repeal the Articles, the Bylaws, or any resolution of the Board of Directors.

#### 8. Indemnification

- 8.1. **Right to Indemnification.** Each person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation), by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director, officer, member, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, shall be entitled to indemnification against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgements, fines, and amounts paid in settlement to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by applicable law as long as such person acted in good faith and in a manner that such person reasonably believed to be in or not be opposed to the best interests of the Corporation. The Corporation shall indemnify any such person seeking indemnity in connection with an action, suit or proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person only if such action, suit or proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the Board of Directors.
- 8.2. Advance Payment of Expenses. Expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by any person who is or was an officer, director, or member of the Corporation, or who is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as an officer or director of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding, shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit, or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such person to repay such amount if it is ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled under applicable law to be indemnified by the Corporation.
- 8.3. **Rights Nonexclusive.** The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by or granted pursuant to this Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement, vote of members, resolution of the Board, or otherwise.
- 8.4. **Insurance.** The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, member, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him or her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability under the provisions of this Article or of applicable law.
- 8.5. **Continued Coverage.** The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to this Article shall, unless otherwise provided when authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, member, employee, or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such person.

## 9. Books and Records

- 9.1. **Books and Records.** The Corporation shall keep correct and adequate books and records of accounts and finances, current Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation, minutes of the proceedings of its members, Board of Directors, and committees, and a record of the name, address, and email address of each director and officer
- 9.2. Any books, records and minutes may be in written form or in any other form capable of being converted into clearly legible written form within a reasonable time.
- 9.3. Inspection Rights. Any director, officer, or member, upon written demand under oath stating the purpose thereof, shall have the right to examine the Corporation's membership records and its other books and records and to make copies or extracts therefrom, in person or by agent or attorney, at any time during the Corporation's usual hours for business, for any proper purpose as determined under the laws of the State of Washington.

#### 10 Miscellaneous

- 10.1. **Fiscal Year.** The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end on the last day of December.
- 10.2. **Checks, Drafts, Etc.** All checks, drafts or other orders for payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of or payable to the Corporation and any and all securities owned by or held by the Corporation requiring signature for transfer shall be signed or endorsed by such person or persons and in such manner as from time to time shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
- 10.3. **Execution of Contracts.** The Board of Directors may authorize any director, officer, employee, or agent to enter into any contract or execute any contract or execute any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation and such authority may be general or confirmed to specific instances.
- 10.4. **Corporate Loans, Guarantees and Advances.** The Corporation shall not make any advances or make any loan of money or property to or guarantee the obligation of any director, officer, member, employee, or agent.
- 10.5. Fees and Compensation. Directors, members, and members of committees may receive such compensation, if any, for their services and such reimbursement for expenses as may be fixed or determined by resolution of the Board of Directors; provided that such compensation shall be reasonable and shall be comparable to that compensation paid by unaffiliated entities for a like position. Nothing herein shall be considered to preclude any director, member, or committee member from serving the Corporation in any other capacity, including as an officer, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, and receiving reasonable compensation therefor.

#### 11. Effective Date, Amendments, and Dissolution

- 11.1. **Effective Date.** These Bylaws shall become effective immediately upon their adoption. Amendments to these Bylaws shall become effective immediately upon their adoption unless the Board of Directors of the Corporation in adopting them provide that they are to become effective at a later date.
- 11.2. **Bylaw Amendments** The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall have the authority to adopt, amend and repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation. The Bylaws may contain any provision for the regulation and management of the affairs of the Corporation which is not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation, or the laws of the State of Washington.
- 11.3. **Dissolution.** The Corporation may be dissolved upon the approval of a majority of the directors then in office without the vote or consent of any member(s) or third parties. Any distribution of the assets of the Corporation shall be made in a manner consistent with the tax status of the Corporation at the time of such dissolution.